DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court Received 08/02/2023 11:31 AM Filed 08/02/2023 11:31 AM

CONNIE JOHNSON,

Appellant,

2021 CMD 006740

2022 CMD 005169

 \mathbf{v}_{\bullet}

UNITED STATES,

Appellee.

Appeal from the Superior Court for the District of Columbia

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Timothy Cone, Esq.
Attorney Appointed by the Court for Appellant Connie Johnson 1615 New Hampshire Avenue N.W. 4th floor (North)
Washington, D.C. 20009
Tel. (202) 862-4333

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This is an appeal from a final judgment of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia that disposes of all parties' claims.

ISSUE PRESENTED

Before trial, Johnson moved for alcoholism treatment in lieu of criminal prosecution, pursuant to D.C. Code § 24-607. The Superior Court denied this motion, because (1) a defense expert psychiatrist diagnosed Johnson as both a chronic alcoholic and as a person suffering from two mental illnesses, and (2) D.C. Code § 24-608 provides that "[t]he handling of a chronic alcoholic who has been determined to be mentally ill shall be governed by the provisions of Chapter 5 of Title 21." The Superior Code interpreted § 24-608 to preclude alcoholism treatment for a person who has been diagnosed as suffering from mental illness. But when § 24-608 refers to persons "determined to be mentally ill," the word "determined" refers to an adjudication that a person is mentally ill, not to a diagnosis by a medical professional. Here, Johnson was not adjudicated mentally ill. This case therefore presents the issue: did the Superior Court err in determining that Johnson was ineligible for alcoholism treatment.

1. Statement of the Case, and Course of Proceedings Below.

The present consolidated appeals (Case Nos. 23-CM-322 and 23-CM-323)

challenge misdemeanor convictions in two District of Columbia Superior Court cases:

Case No. 2021 CMD 006740 and Case No. 2022 CMD 005169.

In Case No. 2021 CMD 006740, the two-count Information charged Johnson with unlawfully assaulting Catherine Hawkins, in violation of D.C. Code § 22-404 (Count 1), and with maliciously destroying property, in violation of D.C. Code § 22-303 (Count 2). DE1 ("DE" refers to the docket entry number for the referenced case; unless otherwise indicated, the docket entry number refers to Case No. 2021 CMD 006740, which is consolidated for appeal with Case No. 2022 CMD 005169; the single issue for appeal arises out of identical filings and orders in both cases).

In Case No. 2022 CMD 005169, the two-count information charged Johnson with assaulting Frederick Desilva, in violation of D.C. Code § 22-404 (Count 1) and with violating a stay away order entered by a Superior Court judge, by going to the second floor of the Carroll Apartments at 410 M Street SE in Washington DC (Count 2). DE1 in No. 005169.

In both cases, Johnson moved, on the same date prior to trial, with an identical filing in both cases, for treatment in lieu of criminal prosecution. DE68; DE33. In her motion, Johnson pointed out that D.C. Code § 24-607(b)(1)(A) provides that:

The Court may, after making the findings prescribed in paragraph (2) of this subsection, commit to the custody of the Mayor for treatment and care up to a specified period

a chronic alcoholic who . . . is charged with any misdemeanor and who, prior to trial for such misdemeanor, voluntarily requests such treatment in lieu of criminal prosecution for such misdemeanor"

DE33:2.

The government opposed Johnson's motion, arguing *inter alia* that Johnson had not provided "any objectively determined medical or other objective documentation of alcohol abuse." DE37:3. The Superior Court granted a defense request to appoint Dr. Ronald Koshes as an expert in the field of alcoholism. DE113:1. The defense thereafter submitted a copy of Dr. Koshes' expert report, which, as the Superior Court later noted, "found that Defendant met criteria for 'Alcohol Use Disorder, Severe' and which "also found that Defendant suffers from two mental illnesses – 'PTSD' and 'Major Depression with Anxiety." DE113:1.

At a status hearing, the Superior court noted that D.C. Code § 24-608 provides that treatment for alcoholics in lieu or prosecution is only available for "chronic alcoholics who have not been determined to be mentally ill." 01/12/23 Tr. 4. The Superior Court pointed out that Dr. Koshes' report stated that Johnson "qualifies as an individual who is mentally ill." 01/12/23 Tr. 4 On this basis, the Superior Court denied Johnson's motion for treatment of chronic alcoholism in lieu of prosecution. 01/12/23 Tr. 24-25. The Superior Court also ordered a mental health screening.

01/12/23 Tr. 25. On January 31, 2023, a forensic psychologist at the D.C. Department of Behavioral Health ("DBH") submitted a competency screening evaluation of Johnson; it concluded that Johnson was competent for trial. DE102.

Johnson moved for reconsideration of the Superior Court's denial of her motion for alcoholism treatment in lieu of prosecution. DE103. Johnson noted that that the Superior Court had relied on D.C. Code § 24-608, and on the defense expert's diagnosis that Johnson "suffers from mental illness." DE103:2. Johnson argued that § 24-608 referred to persons whom the Commission on Mental Health (hereafter, the "Commission") and the Superior Court had determined, in accord with the procedures set forth at Chapter 21 (also known as the Ervin Act), were mentally ill. DE103:2-3. Johnson pointed out that, unlike such persons, "no § 21-541 petition had been filed against [her], no examination by the Commission had been made, and no hearing has been held on the issue of her mental illness." DE103:4. Therefore, even taking account of Dr. Koshes opinions, Johnson "cannot be considered to be mentally ill as defined under the Ervin Act." DE103:4.

The government opposed Johnson's motion for reconsideration. DE106. The government stated that, in addition to providing evidence of Johnson's eligibility for relief under § 24-607, "Dr. Koshes also established that the Defendant has two mental illnesses – 1) PTSD; and 2) Major Depression and Anxiety." DE106:3. The

government agreed with the court that "either of those conditions disqualify her from seeking relief under § 24-608." DE106:3.

In addition, the government argued that the defense was incorrect to claim that "programs are available under the Mayor's office for people suffering from chronic alcoholism or substance abuse." DE106:6. Finally, the government pointed out that no one today, including Dr. Koshes, uses the term "chronic alcoholic" found in § 24-607. DE106:5-6. Consequently, the government argued, "no one meets (or can meet) the statutory definition." DE106:6.

The Superior Court denied Johnson's Motion for Reconsideration. DE103.

The Superior Court reasoned as follows:

In her Motion to Reconsider, Defendant argues that she "cannot be considered to be mentally ill as defined under the Ervin Act" because no civil petition to the Commission on Mental Health has been filed pursuant to D.C. Code § 21-541, and no civil hearing has been held on such a petition. Def.'s Mot. to Reconsider at 4. However, § 24-608 does not require that a defendant must first have been determined to be mentally ill under the Ervin Act, D.C. Code § 21-501 et seq., in order for the exclusion in § 24-608 to apply. Rather, § 24-608 provides only that 1) the subchapter is limited to "chronic alcoholics who have not been determined to be mentally ill," and 2) "[t]he handling of a chronic alcoholic who has been determined to be mentally ill shall be governed by the provisions of Chapter 5 of Title 21." In this case, given the finding by Defendant's expert psychiatrist that Defendant suffers from two mental illnesses, in addition to Alcohol Use Disorder,

Psych. Eval. at 8, even if she meets the definition of a "chronic alcoholic," she is precluded from seeking relief under § 24-607. See D.C. Code § 24-608.

DE110:2 (emphasis added; footnotes omitted).

Both cases then proceeded to bench trial, on successive days, before the Hon.

Judge Robert I. Richter.

A. April 12, 2023 Bench Trial.

At the bench trial of the charged November 24, 2021 assault, and destruction of property, Catherine Hawkins testified that on that date she was visiting her father at his second floor apartment at 410 M Street Southeast in Washington DC. 04/12/23 Tr. 12-13. As she arrived she saw Johnson standing outside the building. 04/12/23 Tr. 13. Johnson had blood on her hands and rocks in her hand. 04/12/23 Tr. 14. A building video showed Johnson following Hawkins to Hawkins' father's apartment. 04/12/23 Tr. 16; Gov't Ex. 1. Johnson was yelling at Hawkins. 04/12/23 Tr. 17. Hawkins told Johnson to back up. 04/12/23 Tr. 18. Johnson then swung and hit Hawkins; the rock in her hand glazed Hawkins' face and lip. 04/12/23 Tr. 18. After Hawkins was able to get Johnson on the floor, Johnson bit Hawkins on a finger. 04/12/23 Tr. 19. The prosecution played a video (Gov't Ex 2) in which, Hawkins testified, one sees Johnson swinging at Hawkins with the rock in her hand, and then a tussle between the two. 04/12/23 Tr. 22-23. A security officer then arrived, and

told Johnson she had to go. 04/12/23 Tr. 23. Johnson then swung at Hawkins. 04/12/23 Tr. 23. At that point, Hawkins maced Johnson. 04/12/23 Tr. 23. Johnson then said; "oh, you maced me? I'm going to go bust your car window." 04/12/23 Tr. 24. Hawkins later went outside and saw that her car's back window was busted, and a rock was inside the car. 04/12/23 Tr. 26. Hawkins identified a photograph showing the "busted" windshield of her car. 04/12/23 Tr. 31-32; Gov't Ex. 8.

MPD Sergeant Miriam Wishnick testified that on November 24, 2021 she interviewed Johnson, who "made a spontaneous utterance of 'I did it. I threw the brick. I was angry." 04/12/23 Tr. 66-67.

B. April 13, 2023 Bench Trial.

At the bench trial of the charged September 1, 2022 assault and violation of stay away order, Frederick Desilva testified for the government that on that date he was a maintenance mechanic working at the apartments at the Carroll Apartments at 410 M Street, SE in Washington DC. 04/13/23 Tr. 8-9. Desilva testified that on September 1, 2022, he got assaulted by Johnson, a tenant who lives in the building. 04/13/23 Tr. 11. Johnson was banging on a door on the second floor, with a cane. 04/13/23 Tr. 12. Desilva told Johnson to stop banging on the door. 04/13/23 Tr. 12. Johnson followed Desilva in the stairwell and hit him twice with her cane. 04/13/23 Tr. 12.

Desilva called 911; the government played part of an audio recording of this call. 04/13/23 Tr. 14. The government also played video from a hallway camera. 04/13/23 Tr. 17. The video showed Johnson and Desilva in the hallway. 04/13/23 Tr. 18. The hallway video did not capture Johnson in the stairwell striking Desilva with her cane. 04/13/23 Tr. 22.

On cross-examination, Desilva answered as follows:

Q. And how was her balance? Was [Johnson] stable or unstable?

A. She seemed like she was tipsy.

Q. Tipsy?

A. Like she had been drinking.

Q. Like she had been drinking? Okay.

A. Yes.

04/13/23 Tr. 28-29.

In response to questions posed by the Superior Court, Desilva testified that when Johnson hit him with her cane, it was "like a poke" to his stomach; he demonstrated the poke for the court. 04/13/23 Tr. 34-35.

Turning to the charged violation of a stay away order, the government introduced in evidence a court order. 04/13/23 Tr. 40; Gov't Ex. 1. The Superior

Court took judicial notice of this order as a stay away order regarding the second floor premises at 410 M Street NE.

The defense did not call any witnesses.

The Superior Court found Johnson guilty on both counts charged in the two cases. DE131; DE86 in Case No. 2022 CMD 005169. In Case No. 2021 CMD 006740, the Superior Court imposed a sentence of 30 days incarceration for the assault, and 30 days for the destruction of property, to run concurrent to each other. DE131. In Case No. 2022 CMD 005169, the Superior Court imposed a sentence of 10 days incarceration for the assault, and 30 days for the violation of the stay away order, to run consecutive to each other, and consecutive to the sentences imposed in Case No. 2021 CMD 006740. DE86 in Case No. 2022 CMD 005169.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Under D.C. law, a person charged with criminal misdemeanors, like Johnson, can move the Superior Court to order alcoholism treatment in lieu of criminal prosecution. Here, invoking this law, Johnson moved the Superior Court to order alcoholism treatment in lieu of criminal prosecution. The Superior Court denied this motion, pointing out that while Johnson's psychologist had diagnosed her with alcohol disorder, he had also diagnosed two mental illnesses: PTSD, and Major Depression. The Superior Court noted that D.C. Code § 24-608 provides that

treatment for alcoholism is limited to chronic alcoholics who have not been "determined to be mentally ill." Based on § 24-608, and the defense expert's psychiatric evaluation, the Superior Court denied the motion for alcoholism treatment. This ruling was erroneous.

Section 24-608 only limits alcohol treatment for chronic alcoholics who have "not been *determined* to be mentally ill." (Emphasis added). The word "determined" refers to an *adjudication* of mental illness. Not to a *diagnosis* by a psychologist.

Moreover, as a policy matter, in light of the high rate of co-morbidity of alcoholism with mental illness, it seems unlikely that the drafters of § 24-608 would have intended to make all persons who suffer from mental illness categorically ineligible for alcoholism treatment.

ARGUMENT

I. The Superior Court erroneously denied Johnson's motion for treatment for chronic alcoholism in lieu of criminal prosecution.

A. Standard of Review.

This Court reviews questions of statutory interpretation *de novo*. *Lee v. United States*, 276 A.3d 12, 16 (D.C. 2022).

B. Background.

Prior to trial, Johnson noted that she has a history of alcohol-related arrests, and

that she was intoxicated at the time of the events giving rise to both of the pending criminal cases. DE68:1.¹ Accordingly, Johnson moved pursuant to D.C. Code § 24-607(b)(1)(A)(i) for alcoholism treatment in lieu of criminal prosecution. DE68. This statute provides:

The Court may, after making the findings prescribed in paragraph (2) of this subsection,² commit to the custody of

- (i) The person is a chronic alcoholic;
- (ii) Adequate and appropriate treatment provided by the Mayor is available for the person; and
- (iii) In the case of a person described in sub-subparagraph (iii) of subparagraph (A) of paragraph (1) of this subsection, he constitutes a continuing danger to the safety of himself or of other persons.
- (B) The Court shall give reasonable notice of such hearing to the person sought to be committed and his attorney. In the case of a person described in sub-subparagraph (iii) of subparagraph (A) of paragraph (1) of this subsection, if the Court does not make the finding described in sub-subparagraph (ii) of subparagraph (A) of this

¹ At the trial for the charged September 1, 2022 assault, Desilva testified that Johnson was "tipsy . . . [1]ike she had been drinking" when he encountered her on that date. 04/13/23 Tr. 28-29.

² Paragraph 2 of § 24-607 provides:

⁽²⁾⁽A) Before any person may be committed under this subsection, the Court shall, after a medical diagnosis and a civil hearing, find that:

the Mayor for treatment and care for up to a specified period a chronic alcoholic who . . . [i]s charged with any misdemeanor and who, prior to trial for such misdemeanor, voluntarily requests such treatment in lieu of criminal prosecution for such misdemeanor.

In support of her motion, Johnson submitted to the Superior Court (under seal) a psychiatric evaluation by Ronald J. Koshes, MD, DFAPA. (A copy of Dr. Koshes' psychiatric evaluation is attached as Exhibit 2 to Johnson's motion to seal, filed in this Court on July 31, 2023). The government opposed Johnson's motion.

The Superior Court denied Johnson's motion in an oral order from the bench, and in a subsequent written order denying Johnson's subsequent motion for reconsideration. 01/12/23 Tr. 24-25; DE100. In so ruling, the Superior Court relied on D.C. Code § 24-608, which provides:

The provisions of this subchapter shall apply to chronic alcoholics who have not been *determined* to be mentally ill. The handling of a chronic alcoholic who has been determined to be mentally ill shall be governed by the provisions of *Chapter 5 of Title 21*.

DE110 (emphasis added). The Superior Court reasoned that "D.C. Code § 24-608

paragraph, the Court may sentence the person to a penal institution pending the availability of such treatment, but for a period not to exceed the maximum term of imprisonment authorized for a violation of such § 25-128.

precludes a defendant with a mental illness from receiving treatment in lieu of prosecution pursuant to § 24-607." DE110:1-2 (emphasis added). The Superior Court noted the defense argument that Johnson cannot be considered to be mentally ill for purposes of § 24-608 "because no civil petition to the Commission on Mental Health has been filed pursuant to D.C. Code § 21-541, and no civil hearing has been held on such a petition." DE110:2. The Superior Court noted that the report by defense expert Dr. Ronald Koshes found that Defendant meets the criteria for "Alcohol Use Disorder, Severe." This diagnosis indicated that Johnson could be eligible for a hearing, under D.C. Code § 24-607, to determine whether the court should order alcoholism treatment in lieu of criminal prosecution. But the Superior Court noted that Dr. Koshes also found that Defendant "suffers from two mental illnesses - 'PTSD' and 'Major Depression with Anxiety." DE110:1 & n. 2 (noting that Dr. Koshes found that the "PTSD and Major Depression symptoms coincide with Ms. Johnson's alcohol use, but since the substance use is concurrent with [her] condition, they are seen as co-morbid disorders, or co-occurring disorders which need concurrent and coordinated treatment." DE110:1 n. 2.

³ The January 31, 2023 DBH report regarding Johnson's competency for trial (filed under seal as Exhibit 3 of Appellant's July 31, 2023 filing in this Court) noted (p. 2) that Johnson "admitted that she has a problem with drinking and indicated that she wants outpatient treatment."

The Superior Court rejected Johnson's argument that § 24-608 referred to determinations of mental illness under Chapter 21 of the D.C. Code. :

... [Section] 24-608 does not require that a defendant must have first have been *determined to be mentally ill* under the Ervin Act, D.C. Code § 21-501 *et seq.*, in order for the exclusion in § 24-608. Rather, § 24-608 provides only that 1) the subchapter is limited to "chronic alcoholics who have not been determined to be mentally ill," and 2) "[t]he handling of a chronic alcoholic who has been determined to be mentally ill shall be governed by the provisions of Chapter 5 of Title 21." In this case, *given the finding by Defendant's expert psychiatrist* that Defendant suffers from two mental illnesses, in addition to Alcohol Use Disorder, even if she meets the definition of a "chronic alcoholic," she is precluded from seeking relief under § 24-607.

DE110:2 (emphasis added; record citations and footnotes omitted).

C. Contrary to the Superior Court's interpretation, the phrase "determined to be mentally ill" in D.C. Code § 24-608 refers to an adjudication of mental illness, not to a defense expert's diagnosis of mental illness.

For persons, like Johnson, charged with misdemeanors, D.C. Code § 24-607 provides for alcoholism treatment in lieu of criminal prosecutions. Johnson invoked this statute, moving the Superior Court to order alcoholism treatment in lieu of prosecution. DE68; DE33. As noted above, the Superior Court denied this motion, relying on D.C. Code § 24-608, which provides:

The provisions of this subchapter shall apply to chronic alcoholics who have not been *determined to be mentally ill*. The handling of a chronic alcoholic *who has been determined to be mentally ill* shall be governed by the provisions of Chapter 5 of Title 21.

D.C. Code § 24-608 (emphasis added). The Superior Court thus relied on § 24-608 to foreclose Johnson's motion for alcoholism treatment. This reliance on § 24-608 was misplaced.

Section § 24-608 limits § 24-607 relief to "chronic alcoholics who have not been determined to be mentally ill." D.C. Code § 24-608 (emphasis added). The Superior Court applied this limitation to Johnson on the ground that her mental health expert's report, in addition to having diagnosed her as a chronic alcoholic, also diagnosed her "as an individual who is mentally ill." 01/12/23 Tr. 4. In its subsequent written order denying reconsideration, the Superior Court recognized that the defense psychiatric evaluation found that Johnson meets criteria for "Alcohol Use Disorder, Severe." DE110:1. The Superior Court further noted that Dr. Koshes "also found that Defendant suffers from two mental illnesses - "PTSD" and "Major Depression with Anxiety." DE110:1. The Superior Court concluded that given the defense expert's "finding [that] Defendant suffers from two mental illnesses, in addition to Alcohol Use Disorder . . . even if she meets the definition of a 'chronic alcoholic,' she is precluded from seeking relief under § 24-607." See D.C. Code §

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