#### BRIEF FOR APPELLEE



COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court Received 11/01/2023 01:34 PM Filed 11/01/2023 01:34 PM

\_\_\_\_\_

Nos. 23-CM-322 & 23-CM-323

CONNIE JOHNSON,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

# APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB NICHOLAS P. COLEMAN

- \* ANNE Y. PARK D.C. Bar #461853 Assistant United States Attorneys
- \* Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Anne.Park@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. Nos. 2021-CMD-6740 & 2022-CMD-5169

###

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Specifically, Dr. Koshes determined that the defendant met the criteria for Alcohol Use Disorder Severe (1R. 18 at 2; 1R. 21 at 1; 2R. 12 at 2; 2R. 15 at 1). He also determined that she suffered from Post-Traumatic (continued . . . )

counsel informed the court that, in addition to Dr. Koshes's report, the defense expected to call Dr. Koshes to testify about Johnson's chronic alcoholism (1/12/23 Tr. 3). The defense also expected to call a representative from the D.C. Department of Behavioral Health (DBH) to establish that treatment programs for chronic alcoholics were available under the Mayor's office (1/12/23 Tr. 5, 10-11).

Judge Reid Winston then brought to the parties' attention D.C. Code § 24-608 (1/12/23 Tr. 3-4). That section provides that the provisions of subchapter 1, which includes D.C. Code § 24-607, "shall apply to chronic alcoholics who have not been determined to be mentally ill" and that "[t]he handling of a chronic alcoholic who has been determined to be mentally ill shall be governed by the provisions of Chapter 5 of Title 21" (1/12/23 Tr. 4). In light of § 24-608, the court reasoned that if Johnson was also mentally ill, as indicated in Dr. Koshes's report, Johnson would not be entitled to the relief she was requesting in her motion (1/12/23 Tr. 4-6, 15, 18). The court thus suggested that defense counsel ask Dr. Koshes whether "he would opine that [Johnson] is someone who has a

Stress Disorder (PTSD) and Major Depression with Anxiety (1R. 18 at 2; 1R. 21 at 1; 2R. 12 at 2; 2R. 15 at 1).

mental illness as defined in the code," and if Dr. Koshes answered that question in the affirmative, that would resolve the issue (1/12/23 Tr. 8).

After consulting with Dr. Koshes, defense counsel proffered that Dr. Koshes had informed him that "Ms. Johnson does suffer from a mental illness" and that her mental illness went "hand-in-hand with her alcoholism" and was "a comorbidity issue" — i.e., "[h]er mental illness contribute[d] to her alcoholism" (1/12/23 Tr. 11-12). Thus, according to Dr. Koshes, both issues needed to be addressed and treated at the same time (1/12/23 Tr. 12; see also 1R. 18 at 2; 2R. 12 at 2).

Given Johnson's concession that she had a mental illness, the court concluded that a hearing was unnecessary because § 24-607 was not applicable to Johnson; instead, pursuant to § 24-608, the provisions of Chapter 5 of Title 21 controlled in cases such as hers where there were comorbidities of mental illness and chronic alcoholism (1/12/23 Tr. 12-15, 18, 23-25). Defense counsel agreed with the court's interpretation of the statute (1/12/23 Tr. 12-15, 23). Accordingly, Judge Reid Winston denied

Johnson's motion for treatment in lieu of prosecution pursuant to D.C. Code § 24-607 and set the case for trial (1/12/23 Tr. 15, 18, 24-25).<sup>4</sup>

In her motion to reconsider, Johnson argued that the court had erred in denying his motion for treatment in lieu of incarceration because no determination had been made that she suffered from a mental illness under the provisions of Chapter 5 of Title 21 – i.e., D.C. Code § 21-501 et seq., also known as the Ervin Act – as required by D.C. Code § 24-608 (1R. 18 at 2-4; 2R. 12 at 2-4). For example, Johnson noted that no petition for judicial commitment pursuant to D.C. Code § 21-541 had been filed against her, and the D.C. Family Court's Mental Health Commission had

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Defense counsel, out of an abundance of caution, requested a competency screening for Johnson (1/12/23 Tr. 18-23). Judge Reid Winston granted his request and ordered a competency evaluation (1/12/23 Tr. 24-25). A competency screening evaluation of Johnson was conducted by the D.C. Department of Behavioral Health (DBH) on January 23, 2023, and a report was filed on January 31, 2023 (1R. 20; 2R. 14). The DBH forensic psychologist conducting the evaluation opined that Johnson was competent to proceed to trial (1R. 20 at 4; 2R. 15 at 4). The report further noted that DBH records indicated Johnson had been diagnosed with Major Depressive Disorder, PTSD, and alcohol abuse, and attended a day program 5 days a week with community-based mental health services via PSI, a core service agency (1R. 20 at 2; 2R. 15 at 4). At a mental observation hearing on February 2, 2023, defense counsel stated that he had seen the report and requested that the case be scheduled for trial (2/2/23 Tr. 3).

not conducted an examination or held a hearing on the issue of her mental health pursuant to D.C. Code § 21-542 (1R. 18 at 3-4; 2R. 12 at 3-4).

The government opposed Johnson's motion to reconsider, contending that Johnson had conflated the requirements of D.C. Code § 24-608 and D.C. Code § 21-501 et seq. (1R. 19 at 3-4; 2R. 13 at 3-4). Contrary to Johnson's assertions, the government argued that D.C. Code § 24-608 did not require the provisions of the Ervin Act be satisfied before the court could deny her motion for treatment in lieu of prosecution under D.C. Code § 24-607 (1R. 19 at 4; 2R. 13 at 4). Rather, the plain language of D.C. Code § 24-608 made clear that because Johnson was mentally ill, she was ineligible for relief under D.C. Code § 24-607 (1R. 19 at 3; 2R. 13 at 3).

In her written order denying the motion to reconsider, Judge Reid Winston rejected Johnson's argument and held that:

[D.C. Code] § 24-608 does not require that a defendant must first have been determined to be mentally ill under the Ervin Act, D.C. Code § 21-501 et seq., in order for the exclusion in [D.C. Code] § 24-608 to apply. Rather, [D.C. Code] § 24-608 provides only that 1) the subchapter is limited to "chronic alcoholics who have not been determined to be mentally ill," and 2) "[t]he handling of a chronic alcoholic who has been determined to be mentally ill shall be governed by the

provisions of Chapter 5 of Title 21." In this case, given the finding by [Johnson]'s expert psychiatrist that [Johnson] suffers from two mental illnesses, in addition to Alcohol Use Disorder, . . . even if she meets the definition of a "chronic alcoholic," she is precluded from seeking relief under D.C. Code § 24-607 (1R. 21 at 2; 2R. 15 at 2 (footnotes omitted) (quoting D.C. Code § 24-608)).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Johnson's motion for treatment of chronic alcoholism in lieu of incarceration, pursuant to D.C. Code § 24-607. D.C. Code § 24-608 limits the application of D.C. Code § 24-607 "to chronic alcoholics who have not been determined to be mentally ill." At the hearing on Johnson's motion, the defense submitted its psychiatric expert's report diagnosing Johnson with certain mental illnesses, and defense counsel proffered that the defense expert would testify that Johnson was mentally ill. Based on the expert report and proffered testimony, defense counsel conceded that Johnson was mentally ill. The trial court accepted Johnson's concession and determined (at a minimum, implicitly) that Johnson was mentally ill. Accordingly, the trial court correctly concluded that D.C. Code § 24-608 precluded Johnson from seeking relief under D.C. Code § 24-607.

#### ARGUMENT

## The Trial Court Properly Denied Johnson's Motion for Treatment in Lieu of Prosecution.

Johnson contends that that the trial court erroneously applied D.C. Code § 24-608 to foreclose her motion for alcohol treatment in lieu of prosecution under D.C. Code § 24-607 (Brief for Johnson at 10-25). Her contention is without merit.

## A. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles.

D.C. Code § 24-607 provides in pertinent part that "[t]he [c]ourt may . . . commit to the custody of the Mayor for treatment and care for up to a specified period of time a chronic alcoholic who . . . [i]s charged with any misdemeanor and who, prior to trial . . . , voluntarily requests such treatment in lieu of criminal prosecution." D.C. Code § 24-607(b)(1)(A)(i). "To order such discretionary relief, however, the court must first find, 'after a medical diagnosis and a civil hearing,' that '[t]he [defendant] is a chronic alcoholic' and that '[a]dequate and appropriate treatment provided by the Mayor is available for the [defendant]." *Cruz v. United States*, 165 A.3d 290, 293-94 (D.C. 2017) (quoting D.C. Code § 24-607(b)(2)(A)). A chronic alcoholic is defined as "any person who

chronically and habitually uses alcoholic beverages to the extent that: (A) [t]hey injure his health or interfere with his social or economic functioning; or (B) [h]e has lost the power of self-control with respect to the use of such beverages." D.C. Code § 24-602(1).

D.C. Code § 24-608 provides a limitation on the application of D.C. Code § 24-607. Section 608 states in full:

The provisions of this subchapter shall apply to chronic alcoholics who have not been determined to be mentally ill. The handling of a chronic alcoholic who has been determined to be mentally ill shall be governed by the provisions of Chapter 5 of Title 21.

D.C. Code § 24-608. Chapter 5 of Title 21 of the D.C. Code is entitled "Hospitalization of Persons with Mental Illness" and is known as the Ervin Act. See D.C. Code § 501 et seq. "Civil commitment is governed by the Ervin Act, and in order to involuntarily commit an individual the record must demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence that 'the person is mentally ill and, because of that mental illness, is likely to injure himself or others if not committed." In re Gaskins, 265 A.3d 997, 1001 (D.C. 2021) (quoting D.C. Code § 21-545(b)(2)). Voluntary commitment for inpatient and outpatient mental health treatment is also

governed by the Ervin Act. See D.C. Code §§ 21-511, -512; In re Peterson, 984 A.2d 192, 193-96 (D.C. 2009).

This Court "review[s] the denial of a motion for treatment in lieu of prosecution for abuse of discretion." Clay v. District of Columbia, 255 A.3d 1000, 1003 (D.C. 2021) (citing Cruz, 165 A.3d 290, 293-94). Questions of statutory interpretation are quintessential issues of law, which are reviewed de novo. Robert Siegel, Inc. v. District of Columbia, 892 A.2d 387, 393 (D.C. 2006). "[W]here a trial court makes an error of law, it infects the exercise of discretion." Henson v. United States, 122 A.3d 899, 902 (D.C. 2015).

#### B. Discussion

Johnson contends that "[t]he verb 'determined' in § 24-608 refers to an *adjudication* of mental illness," i.e., a "court determination" of mental illness, and "[n]ot to a mere *diagnosis* in an expert report" (Brief for Johnson at 10, 15-17)). Johnson claims that the trial court merely relied

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> On appeal, Johnson does not renew her argument below that D.C. Code § 24-608 first required a determination that she was mentally ill under the provisions of the Ervin Act before its exclusion could apply (1R. 18 at 2-4; 2R. 12 at 2-4 (citing D.C. Code §§ 21-541, -542)). She has therefore abandoned that argument. See Bardoff v. United States, 628 A.2d 86, 90 n.8 (D.C. 1993). In any event, as the trial court correctly ruled, it is (continued . . . )

on the defense expert's diagnosis and there was no adjudication of mental illness by the court (*id.* at 15-16, 21). She is wrong. Johnson conceded that she was mentally ill based on her expert's diagnosis, and the trial court determined – at the very least implicitly – that Johnson was mentally ill given that concession. Accordingly, the trial court did not err in concluding that D.C. Code § 24-607 did not apply to Johnson.

D.C. Code § 24-608 limits the application of D.C. Code § 24-607 to "chronic alcoholics who have not been determined to be mentally ill," and further provides that "[t]he handling of [] chronic alcoholic[s] who ha[ve] been determined to be mentally ill shall be governed by [the Ervin Act]." D.C. Code § 24-608. Because of the use of the passive voice in § 24-608, the provision does not explicitly spell out who must make the

entirely without merit. The plain language of D.C. Code § 24-608 makes clear that D.C. Code § 24-607 only "appl[ies] to chronic alcoholics who have not been determined to be mentally ill." D.C. Code § 24-608 further states that "[t]he handling of a chronic alcoholic who has been determined to be mentally ill shall be governed by the provisions of [the Ervin Act]." One ordinary meaning of the verb to govern is "to control." See https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/govern. Thus, by its plain terms, D.C. Code § 24-608 merely provides that hospitalization or treatment for a chronic alcoholic who is mentally ill is controlled by the provisions of the Ervin Act, as the trial court correctly ruled. It does not require that § 24-608 be applied unless an adjudication already has been made under the Ervin Act.

determination of mental illness. It is reasonable to conclude, however, that the trial court, which is tasked with deciding the ultimate issue whether to grant a defendant's motion for treatment in lieu of prosecution, must determine whether the defendant is mentally ill before deciding whether the exclusion in § 24-608 applies, just as the trial court must also determine whether the defendant is a chronic alcoholic before deciding whether to grant relief under § 24-607. See Cruz, 165 A.3d at 293 ("[T]he decision whether to grant treatment in lieu of prosecution is committed to the discretion of the trial court. . . . To order such discretionary relief, however, the court must first find . . . that "[t]he [defendant] is a chronic alcoholic.") (citing D.C. Code § 24-607(b)(2)(A)).

Here, the defense expert's report diagnosed Johnson with Major Depression, PTSD, and Alcohol Use Disorder Severe. See supra note 3. At the hearing, after speaking with the expert, defense counsel proffered to the trial court that the expert had confirmed that "Ms. Johnson does suffer from a mental illness" (1/12/23 Tr. 11-12). There was no other evidence presented besides the defense expert's report and proffered testimony on the issue, and neither party challenged the expert's diagnosis. To the contrary, defense counsel explicitly conceded that

Johnson was mentally ill (1/12/23 Tr. 11-12, 14, 23 ("She is mentally ill, as we admitted and we submitted.")). The trial court accepted the defense concession, and thus determined (at the very least, implicitly) that Johnson was mentally ill (1/12/23 Tr. 12-13, 18, 24-25). Accordingly, the trial court correctly ruled that, as a chronic alcoholic who was mentally ill, Johnson was precluded from seeking relief under D.C. Code § 24-607 and properly denied her motion.

Finally, Johnson contends that "as a policy matter, it makes more sense for the drafters of § 24-608 to have intended to make ineligible for alcoholism treatment only persons adjudicated to have a mental illness, rather than persons diagnosed with mental illness" (Brief for Johnson at 22-24). As discussed supra, we do not dispute that the trial court ultimately must determine whether a defendant is mentally ill under D.C. Code § 24-608 before it can limit the application of D.C. Code § 24-607. But the statute does not specify what form that "determination" must take, much less specify that it must amount to a formal "adjudication" following a hearing. In any event, the trial court made such a determination in this case based on Johnson's concession that she

is mentally ill – and Johnson never proffered that she would be able to establish otherwise.<sup>6</sup>

Johnson similarly errs in arguing that because many persons who suffer from alcoholism also suffer from mental illnesses, the Council must have intended that only formal adjudications of mental illness would be excluded from § 24-607 (Brief for Johnson at 23-24). But if the Council had wanted to limit the scope of § 24-607, it logically would have restricted its application to certain kinds of mental illness rather than merely adding formal procedural steps. That the Council did not impose such substantive restrictions indicates that it understood that defendants suffering from mental-health comorbidities would not be eligible for alcoholism treatment instead of criminal punishment. The trial court therefore did not abuse its discretion in denying Johnson's motion for treatment in lieu of prosecution pursuant to D.C. Code § 24-607, without recourse to some unspecified additional judicial procedures.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> For the same reason, any possible procedural error committed by the trial court would be harmless under any standard of review. Given that Johnson conceded she suffered from a "mental illness," no additional amount of "adjudication" would have made her eligible.

#### CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, the government respectfully submits that the judgment of the Superior Court should be affirmed.